FILED SID J. WHITE

JAN 13 1994

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CLERK, SURREME COURS

CASE NO. 80,536

GARY RICHARD WHITTON,

Appellant,

V. :

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE FIRST JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR WALTON COUNTY, FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

NANCY A. DANIELS
PUBLIC DEFENDER
SECOND JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

PAULA S. SAUNDERS ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER FLORIDA BAR NO. 308846 LEON COUNTY COURTHOUSE FOURTH FLOOR NORTH 301 SOUTH MONROE STREET TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA 32301 (904) 488-2458

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

OTHER AUTHORITIES

Rule 3.190(c)(4), Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 2

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

GARY RICHARD WHITTON,

Appellant,

v. STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

CASE NO. 80,536

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

I PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Appellant was the defendant in the trial court and will be referred to as appellant or by his proper name in this brief.

The record on appeal contains twelve volumes sequentially numbered at the bottom of each page and will be referred to as "R," followed by the appropriate page number in parenthesis.

The supplemental record on appeal will be designated as "SR."

II STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A grand jury indictment, filed December 3, 1990, charged appellant with the first degree premeditated or felony murder of James Stallings Maulden by stabbing on October 10, 1990, and with the robbery of approximately \$1,135.88 from Mr. Maulden on the same date (R 10-12).

Appellant moved to dismiss the indictment pursuant to Rule 3.190(c)(4), Fla. R. Crim. P. (R 254-260). The state filed a traverse (R 399-402) and an amended traverse (R 458-462), and the court denied the motion by written order (R 607).

Prior to trial, appellant moved to suppress all his statements made to law enforcement prior to, at the time of, or subsequent to his arrest on the grounds that the statements were initially given without benefit of any Miranda warnings and all subsequent statements were thereby tainted (SR I). Following a hearing on July 21, 1992 (R 764-820), the motion was granted in part and denied in part (R 615-617).

Appellant proceeded to jury trial before Honorable Laura Melvin on July 27 - August 1, 1992. At the conclusion of the trial, the jury found appellant guilty of first degree murder and robbery as charged in the indictment (R 619-620).

Following a penalty proceeding on August 3, 1992, at which the state and defense each presented additional witnesses, the jury recommended by a vote of 12-0 that the trial court impose the death penalty (R 646, 2255).

Appellant's motion for new trial (R 655-656) was argued on September 10, 1992, and denied (R 2256-2269).

The trial court adjudicated Whitton guilty on both counts (R 2268) and sentenced him to death on Count I pursuant to the the jury recommendation. The court imposed a consecutive term of nine years in prison on Count II, in accordance with the permitted guidelines range, with 701 days jail credit (R 673-678, 682, 691-697, 2273-2282).

Notice of appeal was timely filed (R 698) and the Public Defender of the Second Judicial Circuit was designated to handle the appeal. This appeal follows.

III STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

A. PRETRIAL PROCEEDINGS

Two witnesses testified at the hearing on the defense's motion to suppress Whitton's statements.

Escambia County homicide investigator Allen Cotton arrived at Gary Whitton's residence in Pensacola, Florida, at 1:30 a.m. on October 11, 1990. He was accompanied by investigators from the State Attorney's Office and Walton County Sheriff's Department (R 767-768). Whitton answered the door and invited the officers inside. Cotton advised Whitton that they needed to talk to him, although Whitton was told he was not under arrest and did not have to answer their questions. Whitton agreed to talk to the investigators and stated that he spent the previous night at home. He said he owned a 1979 Buick LaSabre (R 768-769).

Cotton asked Whitton to accompany them to the sheriff's office, although he again advised Whitton that he was not under arrest and did not have to come with them. Whitton agreed to go to the sheriff's office and rode there in one of the investigator's vehicles (R 769-770). They arrived at 1:50 a.m. (R 771). Upon arriving at the sheriff's department, Cotton again advised Whitton that he was not under arrest and did not have to answer their questions. Whitton was then questioned about his residence and whereabouts the previous weekend. Whitton told Cotton that James Mauldin had spent the weekend with him, and that he [Whitton] left Mr. Mauldin in Destin on the morning of October 9 and had not seen the victim since (R 771-772).

Upon hearing the victim's name mentioned, Cotton "felt the investigation had narrowed down and focused down at that point" and "I felt I was in need to advise him of his rights" (R 772). Appellant was advised of his rights at 1:58 a.m. and signed a waiver of rights form (R 772-774). Appellant made additional statements after being advised of his rights (R 774).

Cotton testified on cross-examination that he was aware that appellant's vehicle had been seen at the motel where Mr. Mauldin was murdered on October 9. He did not initially advise Whitton of his rights, however, because Cotton was not sure if appellant was a witness or suspect (R 775). Two investigators accompanied Cotton inside Whitton's residence, but one or two other officers remained outside. They were all armed, but no one was in uniform (R 778-779). Whitton changed clothes before going to the sheriff's office since he had been in bed when the officers arrived, but Cotton was uncertain if an officer went with him to the bedroom when he changed (R 780-781).

Even though appellant had not said anything incriminating at the time, Cotton wanted to continue the interrogation at the sheriff's department (R 782).

All three investigators were present during the interrogation at the sheriff's department. They questioned Whitton for approximately eight minutes about his activities on the weekend before October 10th prior to administering Miranda warnings at 1:58 a.m. The questioning lasted until 5:15 a.m. after Miranda warnings were given. Whitton was continuously accompanied by law enforcement officers from the time they arrived at his home

until the end of the interrogation. The only break in the questioning was when Whitton was transported to the sheriff's office (R 783-787). He was not allowed to leave (R 787).

The interrogation ended at 5:15 a.m. when Whitton invoked his rights (R 789).

Gary Whitton testified on his own behalf that five people arrived at his home at 1:30 a.m. on October 11, 1990. He was in bed and in his night clothes. Cotton identified himself and indicated that he wanted to talk to Whitton about an incident in another county. Whitton invited them inside and told Cotton where he spent the previous night (R 794-795). He stated that he was never advised of his rights. He asked Cotton if he was under arrest, and Cotton replied, "Not at the present time, no" (R 796).

They talked for twenty minutes at the house when Cotton asked Whitton to come to the police station for further questioning. Whitton asked if it could wait until the morning, but Cotton said he needed to clear it up that night. He explained that, based upon his experience, he did not feel that he had a choice and felt he had to go with Cotton (R 796-797). Whitton recalled four people in the office when he was interrogated. No one ever told him he did not have to talk to them. He was repeatedly asked about his whereabouts the previous night but he was never told what the officers were investigating (R 797-798). Whitton maintained he was never advised of his rights until he changed his story and told Cotton where he actually

was that evening, at which time he invoked his right to remain silent and asked to talk to his attorney (R 799).

On cross-examination, Whitton estimated that he was first advised of his rights between 4:30 and 5:00 a.m., not 1:58 a.m. as Investigator Cotton claimed (R 800). Whitton was aware of his rights from prior arrests but still did not feel he had a choice but to talk when five officers came to his home at 1:30 in the morning (R 800-801). Although he was told he was not under arrest, he was never told he did not have to go to the sheriff's office (R 802). One officer followed him into the bedroom when he went to get dressed (R 803). He said he was questioned at the house for 15 or 20 minutes before going to the sheriff's department (R 804).

Following arguments of counsel, the trial court took the motion under advisement (R 805-818), and subsequently entered an order granting the motion with respect to appellant's statements prior to the <u>Miranda</u> warnings and denying it as to those statements made at the sheriff's office after <u>Miranda</u> warnings were given (R 615-617, 1352-1353).

B. TRIAL

The evidence at trial was as follows.

On the morning of October 9, 1990, James Mauldin withdrew \$1,135.88 from his account at the First Federal Savings Bank in Sandestin. Gary Whitton accompanied Mauldin to the bank and helped him fill out the withdrawal slip. Tammy McCormick, the bank teller, identified Mr. Whitton's photograph from a photo lineup on October 11, 1990 (R 1412-1415).

James Mauldin initially wanted to withdraw \$500 from his account but could not do so without his passbook. He got upset and was rude to the teller. He appeared to be intoxicated and finally decided to close out the account. Whitton remained in the background and did not come to the counter until Mauldin asked him for help filling out the form. Mauldin and Whitton appeared to be friends, according to the teller (R 1416-1420).

Later that morning, James Mauldin checked into the Sun and Sand Motel in Destin, Florida. Mauldin again had difficulty filling out the registration form, and his companion completed the form for him (R 1422-1425). Motel employee, Eric Fleming, identified the companion as Whitton from a photographic lineup (R 1466, 1468). The motel registration form was filled out in James Mauldin's name with an address at 424 Dominguez Street, Freeport, and a Florida license tag (R 1500-1501). As the two men went to the room, Fleming noticed that the vehicle Whitton was driving had an Alabama license tag and mentioned it to the motel clerk, who later went by the vehicle and recorded the correct license number on the registration form (R 1426-1427, 1465). It was subsequently determined that the Alabama tag belonged to a 1979 yellow Buick registered to Gary Whitton of Chickasaw, Alabama (R 1501). Whitton was renting a house at 800 Dominguez Street in Pensacola at the time (R 1501).

The motel clerk, Tony Maleszewski, and Eric Fleming both identified Mauldin as being the taller of the two men who came in to register. The second man never spoke to the motel clerk (R 1440, 1442, 1471). Mauldin told the clerk he had a problem

and could not fill out the registration but he did not specify the nature of his problem. He did not appear to be intoxicated (R 1441, 1472-1473).

Mr. Mauldin was assigned to room number 5 (R 1428). There were 31 units in the motel, and only one other unit, number 3, was occupied at the time. Tony Maleszewski lived in unit 8 (R 1430-1431).

Maleszewski later saw Mauldin and another man, whom he did not identify, walk across the street to a service station. Mr. Mauldin came into the office later that day to request a cab (R 1431). Approximately 10:30 that night Maleszewski saw the same yellow vehicle parked in front of unit number 9. He was asleep when he heard a car door shut and looked out of his window (R 1431-1432). He heard a door slam again at 12:20 a.m., looked outside, and saw someone sitting in the driver's seat of the vehicle. The individual got out of the car, opened the trunk, and then returned to the car. Maleszewski went back to sleep (R 1433).

At 11:00 a.m. on October 10, Maleszewski went to unit 5 to see if Mauldin would be checking out or staying another night. He knocked on the door and receiving no answer, let himself in with the master key. There was blood everywhere in the room, and a body was on the floor under a bedspead (R 1434-1435).

Maureen Fitzgerald had known James Mauldin for five years. She testified that she met Whitton through Mauldin. Whitton came to Fitzgerald's house sometime in October, 1990. He told

her that he had taken Mauldin to the bank that day and then to a motel in Destin (R 1481-1482).

According to Fitzgerald, James Mauldin's mother came by her house looking for Mauldin just prior to Whitton's visit. Fitzgerald and Whitton tried to call Mauldin's mother to tell her where Mr. Mauldin was staying (R 1489-1490).

Investigator Fred Mann, of the Walton County Sheriff's Department, arrived at the Sun and Sand Motel at 11:03 a.m. on October 10, 1990 (R 1499). He observed the body of a white male on the floor between the bed and front wall of the room. There was blood on the walls, ceiling and carpet. A watch found on the floor near the body had stopped at 12:27 (R 1500, 1506-1507). The TV was on, and the refrigerator was open (R 1557, 1567). There was diluted blood in the bathroom sink and on the toilet and floor (R 1567). The victim's pockets were turned inside out. There was no money in the pockets or in a wallet, although there were a few coins lying on the floor (R 1609).

Blood was drawn from the victim at the autopsy (R 1581), and blood and saliva samples were taken from Whitton (R 1592-1593). Mr. Mauldin was blood type A (R 1732). Appellant had ABO type O and was a secretor (R 1732-1733). According to the serology expert, type A blood accounts for 41 percent of the white population in the United States; 45 percent of the white population and 50 percent of the black population have type O blood (1744-1745). Blood swabbings from the interior of the entrance door of Mr. Mauldin's motel room, the bathroom door,

bathroom sink, top of the toilet, bathroom floor and the wall behind the north bed were determined to be type A blood, consistent with the victim's blood (R 1569-1573, 1734-1736).

Cigarette butts inside a paper bag found on top of a desk in the motel room and cigarette butts from the ashtray on the nightstand between the two beds were tested for ABO blood type. Five of the six cigarette butts in the paper bag were smoked by a type A secretor, consistent with the victim's ABO blood type. Serology tests did not reveal a blood type on the sixth butt, indicating that the person who smoked it may not have been a secretor. Four of the cigarette butts in the ashtray were also smoked by a type A secretor; the remaining four cigarettes had type O saliva, consistent with appellant's blood type (R 1574-1575, 1737-1739, 1750-1751).

Janice Johnson, an expert in bloodstain analysis (R 1704-1705), testified that the initial bloodshed in room 5 began on the pillow of the south bed and moved toward the bottom of the bed and floor between the beds and a desk area. The bloodshed ended between the north bed and north wall, where there were overlapping patterns of projected blood, indicating more than one impact occurred in that location of the room. There were blood spatters on the television, desk and door of the room, and smeared stains on the carpet (R 1709-1714). Blood stains were also found on the bottom of the victim's foot (R 1712). The victim's body was found in close proximity to the forceful bloodstain patterns on the north wall (R 1716-1718), and the

various bloodstain patterns in the room were consistent with multiple blows to the victim (R 1719).

A search warrant was executed for Whitton's house and car on October 12, 1990 (R 1502, 1504). Blue jeans seized from his residence contained human blood, but there was an insufficient quantity for further testing (R 1575-1576, 1739-1740). Janice Johnson examined appellant's boots and detected blood spatters inside them. These spatters were medium velocity and traveled from top to bottom inside the boots, suggesting that the boots were not being worn when the spatters occurred (R 1720-1722, 1724). Blood on both the outside and inside of the boots was type A (R 1743). Swabbings from the boots were sent for DNA analysis (R 1748).

Three suspected blood stains were removed from Whitton's vehicle. One was taken from the driver's seat; one from the front passenger seat and one from the rear floor-board behind the driver seat. A paper towel with suspected blood was also seized underneath the armrest between the driver and passenger seats (R 1576, 1578-1580). The paper towel and floor mat both contained human blood, but there was not enough blood present to determine the ABO blood type. The other samples contained type A blood (R 1741-1742).

Several receipts were seized from the driver's side visor of Whitton's vehicle. One was a car wash receipt dated October 10, 1990 at 2:37 a.m. (R 1503-1504, 1519-1520). Other receipts included a gas receipt in the name of Debra Sims, for 800 North Dominiquez Street, in the amount of \$95.92 (R 1504, 1511), and

a Gulf Power utility bill for 800 Dominguez Street, Pensacola, in the amount of \$97.97 (R 1504, 1524-1525)). The gas bill was due October 5 and had a past due amount of \$77.14. It was paid in full on October 10 (R 1512-1513). The utility bill was also delinquent, with an overdue amount of \$49.41 and a disconnect date of October 12. This bill was likewise paid in full in cash on October 10 (R 1525). A vehicle registration tag and tax receipt for Alabama tag number 2VR-8692, registered to Gary R. Whitton, dated October 10, 1990, was also found in the car. The tag cost \$34.05 and was likewise purchased in cash (R 1478-1480, 1504-1505). None of the receipts reflected who paid for them (R 1515, 1527).

The house Whitton was renting was owned by Shirley George and had been previously occupied by Debra Sims (R 1501).

Appellant had been employed for two months at a printing business in Pensacola when he was fired October 10, 1990. He was earning \$4.00 an hour and received his last full pay-check on October 4, 1990. He endorsed that check and cashed it with his employer as he did not have a local bank account (R 1529-1532). Whitton was supposed to work on October 8 and 9 but did not show for work on either day. He called his employer on the evening of Monday, October 8, and said he was in Ocala with his injured sister and would return to work on October 10. He was fired when he did not arrive for work on time that Wednesday (R 1533-1535).

Jake Ozio met Gary Whitton in the Walton County Jail after his arrest on April 4, 1992. Ozio was arrested for three bur-

glaries and confessed at the time of his arrest (R 1611-1612). While in jail, Ozio overheard two conversations between Whitton and another inmate, Kenneth Wayne McCullough. During the first conversation, Whitton said the only thing they had linking him to the crime was his bloody clothes. In the subsequent conversation, Whitton stated that the man went to the bank, withdrew money, and there was a fight. Whitton then allegedly said, "I stabbed the bastard" (R 1613).

Ozio was later taken around Fort Walton by investigators to locate pawn shops where he left various stolen items. He told the investigators at that time what he overheard in his cell. He had not yet entered a plea or been sentenced for the burglaries. Ozio subsequently was placed on five years' probation (R 1615-1616).

Ozio was 18 years old and had never been arrested prior to this. He was charged with three counts each of burglary of a dwelling and grand theft, and also possession of a short-barrel shotgun. The latter offense carried a five year minimum mandatory term (R 1617-1618). Ozio claimed he had tried to contact the captain several times to tell him what he overheard but was not able to get in touch with him. He heard Whitton's supposed confession two weeks before accompanying investigators to the pawn shops and spent an entire morning traveling to Fort Walton and trying to locate the pawn shops before ever mentioning the conversations to the captain (R 1619-1622).

Kenneth Wayne McCullough was serving a 15 year sentence at the time of trial. He first met Whitton at the Walton County Jail in November, 1990. McCullough was in jail for 63 days on that occasion, but he returned to jail the following August and remained there until April 6, 1992. While in jail, McCullough assisted other inmates with their cases and talked to Whitton about his charge (R 1638-1639). Whitton told McCoullough in 1990 that he had been with a man in Freeport; the man took all of his money out of the bank; they checked into a motel; had a fight and the other man "kind of got the best of him" (R 1640). Whitton also said that he went home but came back later to get the money, and stabbed and killed the man (R 1640, 1642-1643).

In the first week of April, 1992, Whitton again discussed his case with McCullough. Whitton repeated the same story and told McCullough that he killed the bastard. Jack Ozio was in the same cell on the bunk above McCullough at the time of this conversation, and he could have overheard their conversation (R 1643-1645).

McCullough did not tell anyone about his conversation with Whitton until Sheriff McMillian interviewed him in prison after the sheriff talked to Jake Ozio. McCullough had already been sentenced to 15 years in prison with a three year minimum mandatory term and did not expect to benefit from his testimony (R 1645-1646).

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