FILED

SID J. WHITE

APR 18 19941

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CLERK, SURREME COURT
By _______Chief Deputy Clark

GARY WHITTON,

Appellant,

v.

CASE NO. 80,536

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE FIRST JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR WALTON COUNTY, FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

MARK C. MENSER ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL FLORIDA BAR NO. 239161

OFFICE OF ATTORNEY GENERAL THE CAPITOL TALLAHASSEE, FL 32399-1050 (904) 488-0600

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

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

<u>supra</u>. <u>DiGuilio</u> recognized that allegedly improper arguments by a prosecutor must be reviewed in context, stating:

> We are no longer only dealing with clear-cut the prosecutor directly violations where comments on the accused's silence and hammers the point home as in Rowe v. State, 87 Fla. 17, 98 So. 613 (1924). Comments on silence are lumped together in an amorphoous mass where no distinction is drawn between the direct or indirect, the advertent from the inadvertent, the emphasized from the causal, the clear from the ambiguous, and, most importantly, the harmful from the harmless. In short, no bright line can be drawn around or within the almost unlimited variety of comments that will place all of the harmful errors on one side and the harmless errors on the other, unless the circumstances of the trial are considered. We must apply harmless error analysis to the 'fairly susceptible' comment in order to obtain the requisite discriminatory capacity.

DiGuilio, at 1136.

Federally, an analogous standard of harmlessness (again, based upon the context in which the arguments were made) is applied. Bertolotti v. Dugger, 883 F.2d 1503 (11th Cir. 1989); Kennedy v. Singletary, 933 F.2d 905 (11th Cir. 1991); United States v. Herring, 955 F.2d 703 (11th Cir. 1992); United States v. Chandler, ___ F.2d ___ (11th Cir. 1993), 7 Fla.L.Weekly.Fed. C609.

The record clearly provides support for the trial court's decision sufficient to overcome any issue of "abuse of discretion", while the prosecutor's argument, when viewed in context with the theory of the defense, Whitton's testimony, and the issue of Whitton's cooperation with the police, was clearly invited, as well as "harmless".

(C) Analysis

Gary Whitton's defense to the charges of murder and robbery was "alibi". Basically, Whitton contended that he took the victim, Mr. Mauldin, to the motel, left Mauldin alone, returned late that night to see Mauldin, found Mauldin dead and left the motel (without calling the police) because he did not want to get involved (R 1814-1882).

As noted above, the State's case consisted of (1) eyewitness testimony from people who saw Whitton with Mauldin at Mauldin's bank (R 1411, et seq.), (2) the motel (R 1421, et seq.), (3) testimony from creditors that Whitton paid off on the morning after the crime (R 1478, 1511, 1524), (4) a witness who saw Whitton's car at the motel around the time of the murder (R 1431, et seq.), (5) testimony that Whitton had his car washed after leaving the motel (R 1517, et seq.), (6) testimony that Whitton lied to his employer (claiming to be in another city at the time of the killing) (R 1529, et seq.), (7) testimony that Whitton lied to the police (R 1753, et seq.), and (8) expert testimony regarding blood spatters, bloodstains and the cause of death (R 1660-1752).

All of the State's evidence was corroborated by Whitton's confession to two other inmates (R 1610-1658), and, to a surprising degree, by Whitton's own testimony.

The police officer who questioned Mr. Whitton was Investigator Allen Cotton. During the direct examination of Mr. Cotton, the prosecutor asked a general, narrative question; towit:

Now, if you would, I'd like for you to tell us basically what he said at the various times you talked to him and perhaps point out to the jury the inconsistencies as we go along, if you can.

(R 1763).

This question did not request any comment upon the defendant's silence and did <u>not</u> draw an objection from the defense. Mr. Cotton was the State's last witness, meaning that the jury had already seen and heard the vast bulk of the case, including Whitton's confessions.

In the course of his lengthy narrative response (R 1763-1771), Officer Cotton made the following unsolicited remark:

And at 05:15 AM he decided, once we were getting much closer to what we felt was the truth and we were tightening down on him being at the murder scene, he decided he did not want to talk to us any more.

(R 1771).

As noted before, this comment was so inconsequential in context that the defense did not object, move for a curative instruction or move for a mistrial. Clark, supra; Stewart, supra. The absence of an objection is an indicator of harmlessness, Duest v. State, 462 So.2d 446 (Fla. 1985), or lack of prejudice. See Irizarry v. State, 496 So.2d 822 (Fla. 1986). Had the comment been noteworthy, Whitton would in all probability have objected, just as he did during closing argument.

The second "incident", although similarly not preserved, is important in placing the prosecutor's closing argument in the proper context, for it involves a comment that was virtually invited by the defense.

On <u>direct</u> examination, the following exchange took place between Whitton and his own attorney:

- Q. All right. Did you tell Investigator Cotton that you were there a few minutes?
- A. I don't remember exactly how long I told him I was there. I could have said a few minutes. That's very possible.
- Q. But today you've been asked specifically . . .
- A. Yes, sir.
- Q. . . . how long you were there, approximately. Is what you've told this jury true about how long you were there?
- A. It's the best estimate I can give, yes. I didn't keep a time schedule of how long I stayed there. I can say that I didn't stay there no longer than thirty minutes that morning when I went and took him there.
- Q. When you were arrested how much money did you have on you?
- A. I don't remember the exact amount. I think it was somewhere around fifty dollars.
- Q. And do you realize you could have told somebody?
- A. Yes, sir.

(R 1881-1882) (emphasis added).

These questions by Whitton's own attorney conveyed the message that Whitton wanted to cooperate with the police, would have answered questions (if only they had been asked), and was being forthright. On recross, the State quite properly and (significantly), without objection, probed the issue of Whitton's candor and desire to cooperate "if asked"; to-wit:

Q. But you do agree that your memory was better in 1990, October 1990, when you talked to Mr. Cotton and that would be closer to the time, wouldn't it?

- A. Mr. Cotton asked me back then how long I had been there and I said a few minutes. He didn't take the question any further than that. He didn't ask me for specifics. He didn't ask me right down to the last second.
- Q. <u>He was asking you for specifics wasn't he</u> Mr. Whitton?
- A. He was trying to find out what happened that day, yes.
- Q. And you were lying to him constantly, weren't you?
- A. I lied to him up to -- the only point I lied to him was the fact I told him at first I did not go back there.
- Q. And what did you do when you told him, and what did you do after that when you told him you didn't go back there?
- A. I told him.
- Q. You didn't say any more, did you?
- A. Excuse me?
- Q. You didn't say any more then, did you?
- A. No, I did tell him after awhile I did go back there.
- Q. And when you told him that you didn't say nothing else?
- A. No, sir.

(R 1885-1886) (emphasis added).

The defense, once again, did not object to this fair line of cross examination that was clearly invited by Whitton's direct testimony. Jackson, supra; Jennings, supra.

By the time the attorneys began their closing arguments, the jury was already aware of Mr. Whitton's propensity to give false information (to his employer, to the motel staff, to Mauldin's

girlfriend, to the police and to the jury itself), and of his decision not to answer Investigator Cotton's questions, all without objection. Thus, when the prosecutor made the following argument, it revealed nothing new, nothing prejudicial and nothing that was unsupported by the record:

He tells Allen Cotton that he doesn't go back He kept on and on. over there. they question him for three hours and they'll question the next person for that length of the last part of time. But in interview, before the defendant says 'I'm not talking to you any more', he tells him 'I went back over there, I walked in and I saw my friend dead and I left.' Then he doesn't say anything else. He realizes at that point 'uh-oh'.

(R 1956).

While the defense objected to this argument, it <u>declined</u> the court's offer of a curative instruction (again raising a question as to the seriousness of any claim of prejudice as well as waiver, per <u>Buenoano</u>, <u>supra</u>; <u>Duest</u>, <u>supra</u>).

Mr. Whitton did not have the right to portray himself as a cooperative defendant who could have cleared up all of the confusion "if only" he had been asked the correct questions by the police. By attempting to create the impression that he was cooperative, Whitton directly placed his silence at issue along with his lies to the police. Doyle v. Ohio, 426 U.S. 610 (1976).

Indeed, <u>Doyle v. Ohio</u>, <u>id</u>, recognizes two exceptions to the general prohibition against using post-<u>Miranda</u> silence as impeachment:

(1) A defendant's silence is admissible to impeach a claim that the defendant cooperated with law enforcement.

(2) A defendant's silence may be used when said defendant waives <u>Miranda</u>, answers some questions, and then invokes his rights.

The first exception is plainly set forth in Doyle:

It goes without saying that the fact of postarrest silence could be used by the prosecutor to contradict a defendant who testifies to an exculpatory version of events and claims to have told the police the same version upon arrest. In that situation the fact of earlier silence would not be used to impeach the exculpatory story, but rather to challenge the defendant's testimony as to his behavior following arrest.

(426 U.S. at 618, n.11).

When Whitton tried to create the impression that he would have answered more detailed questions "if only" he had been asked the right questions, he clearly set himself up for the prosecutor's cross examination and his argument. <u>United States v. Hoac</u>, 990 F.2d 1099 (9th Cir. 1993); <u>Anderson v. Charles</u>, 447 U.S. 404 (1980).

This brings us to the second exception, which was set forth in Anderson v. Charles, as follows:

Doyle bars the use against a criminal defendant of silence maintained after receipt of governmental assurances. But Doyle does not apply to cross examination that merely inquires into prior inconsistent statements. Such questioning makes no unfair use of silence, because a defendant who speaks after receiving Miranda warnings has not been induced to remain silent at all.

Id. at 408.

This extension of the <u>Doyle</u> decision has been interpreted as allowing cross examination on the issue of matters <u>not</u> revealed by a defendant in a <u>post-Miranda</u> statement, including the issue of "how" the <u>post-Miranda</u> interview came to be terminated.

United States v. Harris, 956 F.2d 177, 181 (8th Cir.), cert.
denied, ____, 121 L.Ed.2d 48 (1992); United States v.
Robinson, 956 F.2d 1388 (7th Cir. 1992); United States v. Shue,
766 F.2d 1122 (7th Cir. 1985); Rowan v. Owens, 752 F.2d 1186 (7th Cir.), cert. denied, 476 U.S. 1140 (1984); United States v. Hoac,
supra; but see United States v. Canterbury, 985 F.2d 483 (10th Cir. 1993).

The opinion is <u>United States v. Harris</u> sets out the exception well:

Reference to the silence of an accused is impermissible because fundamentally unfair for the government to induce silence through Miranda warnings and then later use this silence against the See Doyle v. Ohio (cite omitted). accused. Where the accused initially waives his right to remain silent and agrees to questioning, however, no such inducement has occurred. If the accused subsequently refuses to answer further questions, the prosecution may note the refusal because it now constitutes part otherwise admissible conversation ofbetween the police and the accused. United States v. Collins, 652 F.2d 735, 740 (8th Cir.), cert. denied, 455 U.S. 906 (1981). . . The prosecutor's commentary, therefore, was permissible.

While the cited authorities address cross examination rather than closing argument it is obvious that counsel may argue matters that were properly admitted into evidence. Here, the prosecutor did nothing more than argue matters which were already of record and which were properly admitted without objection.

From this record, it is patently obvious that the trial court did not abuse its discretion in denying the motion for mistrial.

(d) Harmless Error

The harmless error defense applies to cases such as the one at bar. State v. DiGuilio, 491 So.2d 1129 (Fla. 1986); Brecht v. Abrahamson, 507 U.S. ___, 123 L.Ed.2d 353 (1993). If we assume, arguendo, that no Doyle exceptions applied and that the prosecutor erred in commenting upon record evidence that was received without objection, the totality of the record clearly renders any "error" harmless. Irving v. State, ___ So.2d ___ (Fla. 3rd DCA 1993), 18 Fla.L.Weekly D2481; Phillips v. State, 621 So.2d 734 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1993); Stewart v. State, 620 So.2d 177 (Fla. 1993). The evidence against Whitton included:

- (1) The fact that he was with the victim on the day of the crime, helping Mauldin withdraw money from his bank and checking into a motel (R 1411-1416, 1421).
- (2) The fact that only Whitton knew (both) where Mauldin was and the fact he had cash on him.
- (3) The fact that Whitton gave false information to the motel staff to conceal his identity (or at least his whereabouts) (R 1426).
- (4) The fact that Whitton lied to his boss, claiming to be in Gainesville (or Ocala) to confuse the issue of just where he was at any given time.
- (5) The fact that Whitton returned to the motel on the night Mauldin was killed (R 1432, 1834).
- (6) The fact that blood matching the victim's type blood Whitton <u>agreed</u> was the victim's was found on Whitton's boots and in his car (R 1741-1743, 1770-1771, 1870).
- (7) the fact that Whitton suddenly had money to pay bills on the day after the murder (R 1511-1526).

- (8) The fact that Whitton repeatedly lied to the police about his activities on October 9th (R 1753-1771).
- (9) The fact (never denied by Whitton) that Whitton confessed to the murder to inmates Ozio and McCullough (R 1610-1660).

Against this evidence Whitton offered the improbable story that he cared a great deal for Mr. Mauldin until he "found Mauldin dead", at which point he "did not want to get involved" and a minimal suggestion that some mysterious third person could have killed Mauldin. Whitton was simply not a credible witness and his theory of defense (a phantom killer and his sudden desire not to get involved after the death of his good friend), simply did not add up. Indeed, after Whitton confessed that he lied to the police, the mere fact that he stopped answering questions became irrelevant.

Mr. Whitton cannot show that the prosecutor's argument was the focal point of the jury's deliberations or that it had some fundamental impact upon the fairness of his trial. Indeed, the argument was so inconsequential that Mr. Whitton did not follow up his merely pro forma objection with any request for a curative instruction. Buenoano, supra; Duest, supra. His rejection of the court's offer of a curative instruction may fairly be desire highlight otherwise interpreted a not to an objectionable comment (thus showing that the comment by the prosecutor was not of some overwhelming impact).

³ Whitton showed that unidentified fingerprints were found on a just-purchased wine bottle and sandwich wrapper. Among other deficiencies, Whitton never showed that the prints on the two objects were the same.

Clearly, any "error", if not waived or invited, when reviewed in context, was harmless beyond any reasonable doubt.

POINT II

THE FOURTH AMENDMENT ISSUE IS NOT PROPERLY BEFORE THE COURT INASMUCH AS IT WAS NEITHER RAISED NOR RULED UPON IN THE TRIAL COURT

The Appellant contends that his constitutional rights under the Fourth Amendment were violated, thus compelling the suppression of his statements to the police without regard for the issue of whether his Fifth Amendment rights were violated (avoiding Oregon v. Elstad, 470 U.S. 298 (1985)). Obviously, the "Fourth Amendment violation" is based upon Whitton's claim that he was illegally arrested, in his home, without a warrant.

What the Appellant has failed to tell the Court is that no Fourth Amendment claim was raised in his motion to suppress (SR 1, 2), nor was the issue argued orally (R 764, et seq.). The only issue argued below was one based upon the Fifth Amendment. Thus, the issue raised on appeal was not raised, not preserved, and not ruled upon in the lower and cannot be argued on appeal. Gunsby v. State, 574 So.2d 1085 (Fla. 1991); Mitchell v. State, 527 So.2d 179 (Fla. 1988); Jacobs v. Wainwright, 450 So.2d 200 (Fla. 1984); Holton v. State, 573 So.2d 284 (Fla. 1990); Steinhorst v. State, 412 So.2d 332 (Fla. 1982).

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